

Influence of Different Levels Organic and Inorganic Fertilizer on Soil Health after Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) cultivation.

Comment [A1]: Capital letter

Comment [A2]: Space between words

Comment [A3]: Space

Comment [A4]: Capital letter

Abstract

The degradation of soil, characterized by the decline in soil organic matter, nutrient exhaustion, and the subsequent diminishment of soil fertility, stands as a prominent factor contributing to the subpar levels of agricultural productivity. Organic amendments (OAs) present a promising avenue for rectifying this degradation, exerting their potential by enacting improvements in both the physical and chemical attributes of the soil. This, in turn, leads to a marked enhancement in the growth and yield performance of crops. An experimental endeavor was meticulously undertaken, employing the Randomised Block Design (RBD) framework, and encompassing three replicates for each treatment. Within this ambit, nine distinct nutrient management practices were evaluated, which included the application of organic manures, namely vermicompost (VC) and neem cake (NC), alongside their amalgamations with inorganic fertilizers. The overarching objective was to gauge the ensuing impact on the physico-chemical facets of the soil. Upon a comprehensive analysis of the aforementioned research endeavor, it emerges as a discernible conclusion that the treatment combination denoted as T9 [RDF @ 100% + Vermicompost @ 6 t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 1.2 t ha⁻¹] emerged as notably advantageous. This treatment not only exhibited a discernible positive effect but also led to a significant amelioration in the physico-chemical attributes of the soil. Consequently, it is prudent to advocate this particular treatment combination to farmers, as it not only augments the yield of potatoes but also serves to uphold the overall health and vitality of the soil, particularly under the specific agro-climatic conditions of Prayagraj.

Comment [A5]: Del

Comment [A6]: approach

Comment [A7]: del

Comment [A8]: del

Comment [A9]: which ambit is not mentioned

Comment [A10]: Mention 9 districts

Keywords: Vermicompost, Neem cake, NPK, Soil properties, and soil health.

Comment [A11]: vermicompost

Introduction:

Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.), a tuber crop belonging to the Solanaceae family, holds a position of great significance in global agriculture, being cultivated in over 125 countries and serving as a staple food for more than a billion individuals worldwide (Sanwen Huang et al., 2011). It ranks as the fourth most crucial food crop globally, following rice, wheat, and maize, concerning human consumption (Kandil et al., 2011; Devaux et al., 2014). Potatoes are a valuable non-grain alternative, contributing substantially to the global food supply while also standing as one of the world's primary vegetable crops. Additionally, they are an economical source of essential nutrients such as carbohydrates, proteins, fats, vitamins (including A, B, and C), minerals, and antioxidants, boasting a high biological value (Hale et al., 2008). In the state of Uttar Pradesh, India, potatoes are an esteemed vegetable, either consumed directly or processed into various products like chips, French fries, mashed potatoes, and canned potatoes, among others. Given the increasing global population and the consequent heightened demand for food, coupled with diminishing cultivable land, potatoes are poised to play a pivotal role in the future of food security. The value addition of potatoes not only diversifies crops but also enhances the income of farmers, fosters value-added

Comment [A12]: italicize

Comment [A13]: italicize

Comment [A14]: italicize (et al - et al.,) where ever et al is used

exports, and generates additional employment opportunities (Hussain, 2016). As of the 2020-2021 agricultural year, Uttar Pradesh cultivated potatoes on approximately 620.44 thousand hectares of land, yielding a total of 15811.31 thousand tons of potatoes (Department of Agriculture and Farmers Welfare).

Comment [A15]: missing in reference

However, the world's population is on the rise, and soil fertility is diminishing due to the imbalanced use of fertilizers, which poses detrimental effects on the environment. Balanced fertilizer usage, in combination with organic manure, can enhance crop yields, whereas, imbalanced use can disrupt the natural soil processes and negatively impact ecosystem services (Timsina, 2018). Improperly using chemical fertilizers without incorporating organic manures has resulted in negative consequences in agriculture. This includes problems like soil fertility decline, nutrient depletion, and a decrease in organic matter content. Organic manures, like poultry and cattle waste, along with compost, are not only eco-friendly but also easily accessible. Applying these to farmland can boost microbial activity, improve soil fertility, and lead to higher crop yields. This has made the use of organic manures widely accepted in sustainable agriculture. Many research studies in recent decades have emphasized the crucial role of organic manures in cultivating potatoes for promoting growth and tuber yield. Thus, this study was conducted to compare the effects of different types of organic manures combined with chemical fertilizers on the growth, yield, and nutritional quality of potatoes. It's well known that using organic manure can enhance soil structure, creating optimal conditions for plant growth. This research primarily focuses on managing soil fertility by using a combination of organic manure and synthetic fertilizers to find the most effective rates for achieving maximum potato yield. According to Monirul et al. (2013), organic manure releases nutrients gradually over an extended period, allowing plants to benefit from sustained nourishment and improved growth. This finding has been supported by the studies of Hossain et al. (2017), Jahiruddin et al. (2012), Haliru et al. (2015), and Mondal (2016). Therefore, the main goal of this study is to investigate the primary effects of applying solid waste along with various combinations of synthetic NPK fertilizers and how they interact with potato growth, yield, yield components, and the chemical composition of potato plants.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Two consecutive winter-season field experiments were conducted at the Research Farm of SHUATS-Prayagraj. The research farm is situated at a latitude of 25°57' N, a longitude of 81°57' E, and an elevation of approximately 98 meters above mean sea level. The Allahabad district, where these experiments took place, embodies the subtropical region of South East Uttar Pradesh, characterized by scorching summers and relatively chilly winters. The maximum temperature in this locale can soar to heights between 46 °C and 48 °C during the peak of summer, while rarely descending below 4°C to 5°C in winter. Relative humidity varies from 20% to 94%, and the area receives an average annual rainfall of approximately 1100 mm. For the winter seasons of 2020-2021 and 2021-2022, the experiments followed a Randomized Block Design with three replications for nine treatments. The nine treatment combinations were meticulously structured to assess their impact on potato cultivation in this unique agroclimatic condition. The treatment combination was laid out as T₁- (Control)-NPK

0% Recommended Dose of Fertilizer (RDF) + Vermicompost @ 0t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 0t ha⁻¹, T₂- NPK 0% RDF+ Vermicompost @ 3t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @0.6t ha⁻¹, T₃-NPK 0% RDF + Vermicompost @ 6t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 1.2t ha⁻¹, T₄-NPK 50% RDF + Vermicompost @ 0t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 0t ha⁻¹, T₅-NPK 50% + Vermicompost @ 3t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 0.6 t ha⁻¹, T₆- NPK 50% RDF + Vermicompost @ 6t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 1.2t ha⁻¹, T₇-NPK 100% RDF + Vermicompost @ 0t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 0t ha⁻¹, T₈-NPK 100%RDF + Vermicompost @ 3t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 0.6t ha⁻¹, T₉-NPK 100% RDF + Vermicompost @ 6t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 1.2t ha⁻¹ respectively.

Comment [A16]: Vermicompost

Result and Discussions

Bulk Density (g cm⁻³) and Particle density (gcm⁻³)

The data presented in Table 1 provide insights into the impact of varying levels of Vermicompost, Neem cake, and fertilizers on bulk density (Mg m⁻³) and particle density (Mg m⁻³) in the soil, and it is noteworthy that the observed effects were not statistically significant across both years. In the years 2021 and 2022, at soil depths of 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm, the soil bulk density exhibited the highest values in treatment T7 (1.28, 1.26 and 1.29, 1.28), closely followed by treatment T4 (1.26, 1.24 and 1.27, 1.26), while the lowest values were recorded in treatment T3 (1.21, 1.20 and 1.22, 1.21) for both depth ranges in both years. On the other hand, particle density reached its maximum in treatment T7 (2.56, 2.57 and 2.56, 2.57), followed by treatment T9 (2.55, 2.55 and 2.55, 2.56), with the minimum value recorded in treatment T1 (2.44, 2.44 and 2.45, 2.55) during both years. It's worth noting that the variations in different levels of Vermicompost, Neem cake, and fertilizers appeared to have a negative impact on bulk density and particle density, potentially attributed to the addition of bulky materials to the soil. These findings align with prior research, as Sinha et al. (2006) also reported similar observations regarding the influence of organic amendments on soil properties.

Pore Space (%)

Upon careful examination of the data concerning soil porosity at depths of 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm, as detailed in Table 3, it is evident that the influence of varying levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on pore space percentage was indeed significant throughout both years. Notably, the highest pore space percentages were registered in treatment T9 (51.81 and 52.47), closely followed by treatment T6 (50.61 and 51.28), while the lowest pore space percentages were observed in treatment T1 (46.66 and 48.55) at the 0-15 cm depth in both years. At the 15-30 cm depth, a similar trend was observed, with the effects of different levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers significantly influencing porosity during both years. Here again, treatment T9 exhibited the highest soil pore space percentages (50.47 and 51.94), followed by treatment T6 (49.61 and 48.51), while the lowest porosity values were noted in treatment T1 (44.66 and 46.99) at the 0-15 cm depth in both years. It's important to note that the variations in the application of different doses of fertilizer positively impacted porosity, likely due to the addition of bulky materials to the soil composition. These findings align with those reported by Ghulam et al. (2016), who also observed similar trends in their research.

Water holding capacity(%)

An in-depth analysis of the data pertaining to soil water holding capacity at depths of 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm, as presented in Table 1, reveals a significant influence of varying levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on this crucial soil parameter throughout both years. Notably, the treatment combinations exhibited distinct effects on the water-holding capacity of the soil. Treatment T9 consistently displayed the highest water-holding capacity values (43.72 and 45.79 at 0-15 cm; 42.72 and 43.82 at 15-30 cm), closely followed by treatment T6 (43.27 and 44.07 at 0-15 cm; 42.31 and 43.41 at 15-30 cm). In contrast, the lowest water-holding capacity values were consistently observed in treatment T1 (37.12 and 37.92 at 0-15 cm; 37.04 and 37.92 at 15-30 cm) during both years.

It is important to highlight that the variations in the application of different doses of vermicompost and neem cake had a positive impact on the water-holding capacity of the soil. This positive influence is likely attributed to the addition of bulky organic materials to the soil composition, which can enhance the soil's ability to retain water. Consequently, these findings underscore the importance of organic amendments in soil management practices aimed at improving water retention, which is crucial for sustaining crop growth and overall soil health.

Organic carbon (%)

The data presented in Table 1 shed light on the response of soil organic carbon content, which was notably influenced by different levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers, with significant effects observed in both years. Within the top 0-15 cm soil layer, the highest organic carbon content was recorded in treatment T9, reaching 0.51% and 0.53%, followed closely by T8 (0.48% and 0.51%), while the lowest organic carbon content was consistently observed in the control treatment T1, registering 0.38% and 0.40% in both years. At a greater depth of 15-30 cm, the trend continued, with the maximum organic carbon content recorded in treatment T9 at 0.48% and 0.50%, followed by T8, while the minimum organic carbon content was consistently found in the control treatment T1 at 0.36% and 0.40% in both years. Moreover, the mean values of soil electrical conductivity were found to be statistically significant. These findings are in line with prior research, as similar results were reported by researchers such as Gabr, S. M., Elkhatib and El-Keriawy, 2007), Gopinath, and Mina, 2011, Ojha et al. 2009, and Ghulam et al. 2016. These studies collectively suggest that as the dose of solid-liquid waste, including organic amendments like vermicompost and neem cake, increases, the organic carbon content in the soil also tends to rise. Furthermore, it's worth noting that a higher percentage of organic carbon in sewage sludge has been linked to increased organic matter content in the soil, as reported by Singh and Agrawal (2010). This underscores the significance of organic amendments in enriching soil organic carbon content, which can have positive implications for soil health and agricultural productivity.

Soil pH

The pH levels of the soil displayed significant responses to the application of different levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers. Within the top 0-15 cm soil layer, the maximum pH values were consistently observed in treatment T9, reaching 7.15 and 7.42, closely followed by T8 (7.09 and 7.30), while the minimum pH values of the soil were consistently

recorded in the control treatment T1, measuring 6.54 and 6.77, respectively, in both years. At a greater depth of 15-30 cm, the trend continued, with the highest pH values recorded in treatment T9 at 7.31 and 7.53, followed by T8 (7.23 and 7.39), while the lowest pH values were consistently observed in the control treatment T1 at 6.64 and 6.84 in both years. It's important to note that the mean value of soil pH was found to be non-significant with regard to the application of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers. This suggests that, overall, the pH of the soil did not exhibit a significant change due to these factors, and any variations in pH levels were likely influenced by other factors such as crop stage and the application of solid-liquid waste. Soil pH tended to change from neutral to slightly acidic in nature, possibly as a result of increased application of solid-liquid waste and other agricultural practices. These changes in pH could be attributed to various processes, including the oxidation of different organic compounds, nitrification of ammonia, and the production of organic acids resulting from anaerobic decomposition of organic matter, as documented in studies like Vig et al. (2003).

UNDER PEER REVIEW

Electrical Conductivity (dSm⁻¹)

The data presented in Table 1 illustrates the substantial impact of different levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on the electrical conductivity of the soil. In the topsoil layer (0-15 cm), the highest electrical conductivity was consistently recorded in treatment T9, reaching 0.42 and 0.46 dS m⁻¹, closely followed by T8 (0.41 and 0.44 dS m⁻¹), while the lowest electrical conductivity values were consistently observed in the control treatment T1, measuring 0.34 and 0.38 dS m⁻¹, respectively, in both years. At a greater depth of 15-30 cm, a similar trend was observed, with the highest electrical conductivity values recorded in treatment T9 at 0.44 and 0.47 dS m⁻¹, followed by T8 (0.42 and 0.45 dS m⁻¹), while the lowest electrical conductivity values were consistently found in the control treatment T1 at 0.36 and 0.40 dS m⁻¹ in both years. It is noteworthy that the mean value of soil electrical conductivity was found to be statistically significant. This aligns with the findings of Ghulam et al. (2016) and Esawy et al. (2009), who also reported significant variations in electrical conductivity in response to different doses of inorganic and organic fertilizers. Their observations are in line with the present study, reinforcing the influence of fertilizer application on soil electrical conductivity. Similarly, studies conducted by Islam et al. (2013) and Ojha et al. (2009) also support these findings, indicating that the electrical conductivity of soil is responsive to fertilizer application practices. These collective observations underscore the importance of carefully managing fertilizer application to regulate soil electrical conductivity levels for optimal crop growth and overall soil health.

Available Nitrogen (kg ha⁻¹)

The data illustrated in Table 1 clearly demonstrate that the availability of nitrogen in the soil was markedly influenced by varying levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers across both years and at different depths. Notably, the highest levels of available nitrogen were consistently observed in treatment T9, reaching 242.16 and 246.49 kg ha⁻¹, closely followed by T8 (238.31 and 242.65 kg ha⁻¹), while the lowest levels were consistently recorded in the control treatment T1, measuring 212.53 and 219.27 kg ha⁻¹, respectively, in both years. At a greater depth of 15-30 cm, a similar trend was observed, with the highest available nitrogen levels recorded in treatment T9 at 238.83 and 243.49 kg ha⁻¹, followed by T8 (234.98 and 239.98 kg ha⁻¹), while the lowest levels were consistently found in the control treatment T1 at 209.21 and 215.87 kg ha⁻¹ in both years. Importantly, the mean value of available nitrogen in the soil was found to be statistically significant, further affirming the substantial impact of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on nitrogen availability. These findings align with previous research conducted by Islam et al. (2013), Ojha et al. (2009), and Ghulam et al. (2016), all of which have reported similar trends in soil nitrogen availability in response to varying fertilizer and organic matter applications. These collective observations highlight the critical role of nutrient management practices in influencing the nitrogen content of the soil, which is pivotal for achieving optimal crop growth and productivity.

Available Phosphorus (kg ha⁻¹)

The data presented in Table 1 provides clear evidence of the significant influence of varying levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on the availability of phosphorus in the soil, both at depths of 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm. Notably, the highest levels of available phosphorus were consistently observed in treatment T9, reaching 25.47 and 27.23 (0-15 cm) and 24.13 and 26.20 (15-30 cm), closely followed by T8 (23.75 and 25.08 (0-15 cm) and 22.42 and 24.38 (15-30 cm)) and T6 (22.37 and 24.45 (0-15 cm) and 21.37 and 21.77 (15-30 cm)), while the lowest levels were consistently recorded in the control treatment T1, measuring 16.96 and 18.96 (0-15 cm) and 16.29 and 17.62 (15-30 cm), respectively, in both years. This data underscores the significant impact of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on enhancing the availability of phosphorus in the soil. The addition of these organic materials, along with fertilizers, positively influences the soil's phosphorus content. This effect is attributed to the incorporation of bulky materials and the nutrient-rich composition of the applied fertilizers. Similar observations have been reported by other researchers. For instance, Kumar et al. (2013) noted that the amendment of solid-liquid waste into soil led to increased availability of nitrogen, largely due to the higher organic matter content, which in turn enhanced the cation exchange capacity, affecting the solubility and availability of elements in the soil. This study aligns with findings by Ojha et al. (2009), Suh et al. (2015), and Ghulam et al. (2016), all of which reported an increase in available phosphorus with the application of organic amendments and fertilizers. These findings collectively emphasize the importance of nutrient management practices in enhancing soil nutrient content, a crucial factor in achieving optimal crop growth and yield. Available phosphorus of soil at 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm presented in table 1 reveals that effect of different level of vermicompost, neem cake and fertilizers on available phosphorus of soil was significant during the both year. Relatively maximum available phosphorus of soil was recorded in treatment T9 (25.47 and 27.23) followed by T8 (23.75 and 25.08.07) and T6 (22.37and 24.45) , while minimum available phosphorus of soil was recorded in T1 (16.96 and 18.96) at 0-15 cm in the both year. At 15-30 cm depth, the effect of different level of vermicompost, neem cake and fertilizers on available phosphorus of soil was significant during the both year. Maximum available phosphorus of soil was recorded in treatment T9 (24.13 and 26.20) followed by T8 (22.42 and 24.38) and T6(21.37 and 21.77) ,however minimum available phosphorus of soil was recorded in T1 (16.29 and 17.62) at 15-30 cm in the both year. The variation in different doses of vermicompost and neem cake and fertiliser affects available phosphorus of soil positively due to addition of bulky materials and fertilizer in soil composition. Similar findings also have been reported by. Amendment of solid liquid waste on soil increases more available Nitrogen relatively high percentage of organic matter increased the cationexchange capacity and it affect the solubility and availability of element to soil (Kumar et al., 2013). The increase in available P have also been reported by Ojha et al.,(2009), Suh et al.,(2015)and Ghulam et al. (2016).

Available Potassium (kg ha⁻¹)

The data presented in Table 1 clearly demonstrate that the availability of potassium in the

soil was significantly influenced by varying levels of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers, both at depths of 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm. Notably, the highest levels of available potassium were consistently observed in treatment T9, reaching 217.37 and 224.70 (0-15 cm) and 214.03 and 216.20 (15-30 cm), closely followed by T8 (214.51 and 220.84 (0-15 cm) and 211.17 and 212.97 (15-30 cm)), T7 (210.30 and 216.63 (0-15 cm)), and T6 (204.75 and 211.08 (0-15 cm)), while the lowest levels were consistently recorded in the control treatment T1, measuring 186.30 and 192.64 (0-15 cm) and 184.64 and 188.97 (15-30 cm), respectively, in both years. This data highlights the significant impact of vermicompost, neem cake, and fertilizers on enhancing the availability of potassium in the soil. The addition of these organic materials, in combination with fertilizers, positively influences the soil's potassium content. This effect is attributed to the incorporation of both organic and inorganic fertilizers, which collectively contribute to the increased availability of potassium in the soil. This is consistent with findings by Kumar et al. (2013), who noted that the amendment of solid-liquid waste into the soil resulted in increased nitrogen availability due to higher organic matter content, enhancing the cation exchange capacity and ultimately influencing the solubility and availability of elements in the soil. These findings align with previous research by Ojha et al. (2009) and Ghulam et al. (2016), further supporting the positive effect of nutrient management practices on soil nutrient content, including potassium, which is vital for optimal crop growth and yield.

Table 1: Analysis of soil pre-sowing of Potato

Parameters	2020	2021
Sand (%)	64.80	64.79
Silt (%)	21.94	21.95
Clay (%)	13.26	13.26
Texture of Soil	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam
Bulk density (g cm^{-3})	1.24	1.23
Particle density (g cm^{-3})	2.44	2.45
Pore space (%)	46.66	47.33
WHC(%)	37.12	37.92
pH	6.54	6.77
EC (dSm^{-1})	0.34	0.38
OC (%)	0.38	0.40
Available Nitrogen (kgha^{-1})	112.53	119.87
Available Phosphorus (kgha^{-1})	16.96	18.96
Available Potassium (kgha^{-1})	186.30	192.64

Table 2: Effect of vermicompost and neem cake and fertilizer on soil physico-chemical properties after harvest of Potato

	Bulk Density(Mg m ⁻¹)				Particle Density(Mg m ⁻¹)				Porosity(%)				Water Holding capacity (%)			
	2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22	
	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm
T₁	1.24	1.25	1.22	1.23	2.44	2.44	2.45	2.45	46.66	44.66	47.33	46.99	37.12	37.04	37.92	37.92
T₂	1.23	1.24	1.21	1.22	2.46	2.47	2.47	2.48	47.87	45.87	48.54	47.20	38.04	37.45	40.37	39.71
T₃	1.22	1.23	1.20	1.21	2.45	2.46	2.46	2.47	48.41	47.07	49.07	48.08	41.11	40.59	42.85	42.58
T₄	1.26	1.27	1.24	1.25	2.45	2.45	2.45	2.46	47.73	45.73	48.40	47.06	39.25	38.88	41.32	40.65
T₅	1.25	1.26	1.23	1.24	2.45	2.45	2.46	2.46	48.34	47.34	48.67	48.00	40.54	40.11	42.58	41.94
T₆	1.24	1.25	1.22	1.23	2.53	2.53	2.54	2.54	50.61	49.61	51.28	48.51	43.27	42.31	44.07	43.41
T₇	1.28	1.29	1.26	1.27	2.56	2.56	2.57	2.57	49.09	46.76	49.76	49.95	40.61	40.27	41.61	41.85
T₈	1.25	1.26	1.23	1.24	2.47	2.48	2.48	2.48	49.25	48.59	50.25	49.59	42.31	42.25	43.61	42.31
T₉	1.23	1.24	1.21	1.22	2.55	2.55	2.55	2.56	51.81	50.47	52.47	51.94	43.72	42.72	45.79	43.82
F - test	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
C.D. @ 5% S. Ed. (±)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.69	3.73	1.90	1.93	4.17	3.81	3.59	3.20
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.26	1.27	0.89	0.90	1.96	1.79	1.68	1.50

Table 3: Effect of vermicompost and neem cake and fertilizer on soil Physico-chemical properties after harvest of Potato

	pH				Ec (%)				OC(%)			
	2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22	
	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm
T₁	6.54	6.64	6.77	6.84	0.34	0.36	0.38	0.40	0.38	0.34	0.40	0.37
T₂	6.63	6.75	6.89	6.96	0.37	0.39	0.40	0.41	0.39	0.35	0.41	0.38
T₃	7.09	7.19	7.24	7.31	0.40	0.41	0.43	0.44	0.40	0.38	0.42	0.39
T₄	6.84	6.94	7.07	7.13	0.38	0.39	0.41	0.42	0.41	0.40	0.43	0.42
T₅	6.74	6.84	6.91	6.97	0.36	0.38	0.39	0.40	0.43	0.41	0.45	0.44
T₆	7.02	7.12	7.2	7.33	0.37	0.40	0.41	0.42	0.46	0.44	0.48	0.45
T₇	6.95	7.02	7.14	7.21	0.39	0.41	0.43	0.44	0.44	0.42	0.46	0.43
T₈	7.09	7.23	7.3	7.39	0.41	0.42	0.44	0.45	0.48	0.46	0.51	0.49
T₉	7.15	7.31	7.42	7.53	0.42	0.44	0.46	0.47	0.51	0.48	0.53	0.50
F - test	NS	NS	NS	NS	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
C.D. @ 5% S. Ed. (±)	-	-	-	-	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.03
	-	-	-	-	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01

Table 4: Effect of vermicompost and neem cake and fertilizer on soil chemical properties after harvest of Potato

	Available Nitrogen (kg ⁻¹)				Available Phosphorus(kg ⁻¹)				Available Potassium(kg ⁻¹)			
	2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22		2020-21		2021-22	
	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm	0-15 cm	15-30 cm
T₁	212.53	209.21	219.87	215.87	16.96	16.29	18.96	17.62	186.30	184.64	192.64	188.97
T₂	222.06	218.73	228.73	224.40	17.31	16.65	19.31	18.38	190.84	187.51	197.17	192.31
T₃	217.29	211.96	221.62	215.96	19.16	18.49	21.16	20.23	193.14	189.81	199.14	187.48
T₄	221.07	217.74	228.74	220.08	18.07	17.74	20.74	19.50	195.69	193.35	202.02	194.02
T₅	223.42	220.09	230.09	226.76	20.22	19.55	22.55	20.89	199.89	196.23	206.56	198.36
T₆	231.98	228.65	238.65	233.65	22.37	21.37	24.45	21.77	204.75	201.42	211.08	203.55
T₇	228.25	224.92	231.59	226.59	21.56	20.23	24.23	23.66	210.30	206.97	216.63	208.40
T₈	238.31	234.98	242.65	239.98	23.75	22.42	25.08	24.38	214.51	211.17	220.84	212.97
T₉	242.16	238.83	246.49	243.49	25.47	24.13	27.23	26.20	217.37	214.03	224.70	216.20
F - test	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
C.D. @ 5% S. Ed. (±)	13.26	10.18	10.08	10.90	2.83	2.92	4.03	3.84	13.28	12.65	9.44	9.92
	6.23	4.78	4.73	5.12	1.32	1.37	1.89	1.80	6.24	5.94	4.43	4.66

Conclusions

The findings of the experiment provide valuable insights into the potential benefits of organic amendments (OAs) in enhancing the physical and chemical properties of soil, leading to improved crop growth and yield, particularly for potatoes. Through this study, it has become evident that the incorporation of organic materials such as vermicompost and neem cake, in combination with inorganic fertilizers, can have a significant positive impact on soil quality. Among the various treatment combinations evaluated, T9 [RDF @ 100% + Vermicompost @ 6 t ha⁻¹ + Neem cake @ 1.2 t ha⁻¹] emerged as the most effective in improving the physical and chemical properties of the soil. This treatment not only demonstrates its potential to boost potato yields but also contributes to the overall health and sustainability of the soil in the Prayagraj region. Therefore, based on these findings, it is strongly recommended that farmers consider adopting this recommended treatment to enhance potato production and maintain soil quality in the Prayagraj area, ultimately promoting sustainable and productive agriculture.

References

- Achiba WB, Gabteni N, Lakhdar A, Laing GD, Verloo M, Jedidi N, Gallali T (2009): Effects of 5-year application of municipal solid waste compost on the distribution and mobility of heavy metals in a Tunisian calcareous soil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 130, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/j. agee.2009.01.001.
- Amana Mama, JemalJeylan, AbebeWoldesenbetAseffa . ; (2016).Effects of different rates of organic and inorganic fertilizer on growth and yield components of potato

Comment [A17]: Check references and write

Comment [A18]: add

(*Solanum tuberosum* L.) In jimma are, south west Ethiopia. International Journal of Research Granthalaya. Vol.4 (Iss.11): November, 2016. Gardener, F.D.; R.B. Pearce and R.L. Mitchell. 1985.

Comment [A19]: italicize and space

Comment [A20]: add

- Arafa (2004) Effect of different NPK treatments on growth, yield, quality and chemical components of two potato cultivars. Annals of Agricultural Science. 2004; 42(2):753-766.
- Devaux A, Kromann P and Ortiz O 2014. Potatoes for sustainable global food security. Potato Res. 57:185-199.
- Esawy M, Kader N, Robin P, Corfini N, Rahman L. Effects of Different Organic and Inorganic Fertilizers on Cucumber Yield and Some Soil Properties. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 2009; 5(4):408-419.
- European Information and Observation Network (2013): European topic centre on sustainable consumption and production (ETC/SCP). <http://scp.eionet.europa.eu/themes/waste>. Accessed 23 August, 2014.
- Hale AL, Reddivari L, Nzaramba MN, Bamberg JB and Miller JC Jr 2008. Interspecific variability for antioxidant activity and phenolic content among *Solanum* species. Amer. J. Potato Res. 85(5):332-341..
- Haliru M, Dikko AU, Audu M, Aliyu I. (2015) Effect of cow dung on soil properties and yield of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) In the western highlands of Cameroon. International Journal of Development Research Vol. 5, Issue, 02, pp. xxxxx.
- Hoornweg D, Bhada-Tata P (2012): What a waste: A global review of solid waste management. Urban Development Series. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Hossain ABMS, Hakim MA, Onguso JM. (2003) Effect of manure and fertilizers on growth and yield of potato. Pak J Biol Sci. 2003; 6:1243-1246.
- Hussain T 2016. Potatoes: ensuring food for the future. Adv. Plants Agric. Res. 3(6):178-182.
- Ibrahim, H., Nexhbet, S. and gafur, Q. X. (2018). Concentration of heavy metals in edible plant potatoes: the health effect in the human organism. Rasayan Journal chemistry. 11(2), 682-87.
- Jahiruddin M, Rahman MA, Haque MA, Rahman MM, Islam MR. (2012) Integrated nutrient management for sustainable crop production in Bangladesh. *Acta Hort*; 2012. DOI: 10.17660.2012.958.8.
- Kandil AA, Attia AN, Badawi MA, Sharief AE, Abido WAH. Effect of Water Stress and Fertilization with Inorganic Nitrogen and Organic Chicken Manure on Yield and Yield Components of Potato. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. 2011; 5(9):997-1005.4.
- Khadem, S.A., Galavi, M., Ramrodi, M., Mousavi, S.R., Roustaei, M.J. and Rezvani-Moghadam, P. (2010). Effect of animal manure and superabsorbent polymer on corn leaf relative water content, cell stability and leaf chlorophyll content under dry condition. *Aus. J. Crop Sci.* 4, 8, 642-647.
- Kumar, S., Bhattacharyya, J. K., Vaidya, A. N., Chakrabarti, T., Devotta, S., Akolkar, A.B., 2009. Assessment of the status of municipal solid waste management in metro

Comment [A21]: add --

Comment [A22]: del -

Comment [A23]: ?

Comment [A24]: Add

cities, state capitals, class I cities, and class II towns in India: An insight. *Waste Management*, 29, Pp. 883–895. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2008.04.011>.

- Md. Monirul Islam, Sajeda Akhter, Nik M. Majid, Jannatul Ferdous, M. Shamshul Alam² (2013). Maintain soil health in Grey Terrace Soil. Integrated nutrient management for potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) in grey terrace soil (Aric Albaquipt). *Australian Journal of Soil Science* 7 (9):1235-1241(2013).
- Mohammad G, David A.(2016) Impact of integrated nutrients on soil fertility status under potato cultivation (*Solanum Tuberosum* L.). *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development*.2016;3(5):149-152.
- Mondal MMA, Akter MB, Rahman MH, Puteh AB. (2016). Influence of micronutrients and manures on growth and yield of garlic in sandy loam soil. *Int. J. Plant Soil Sci.*; 13:1-8.
- Moreno, J.L. Garcia, C. Hernandez, T. and Ayuso.M.(1997) Application of composted sewage sludge contaminated with heavy metal to an agriculture soil: act on lettuce growth. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutt.* 4:565-573.
- Ojha R, Mandal E, Pareta D, Thomas T. Effects of Combined Application of Inorganic and Azotobacter on Chemical Properties and N, P, K Availability after Potato Harvest. *Environment and Ecology*. 2009; 27(4B):1899-1902[18].
- Padmavathamma PK, Li LY, Kumari UR (2008): An experimental study of vermi-biowaste composting for agricultural soil improvement. *Bioresource Technology*, 99, 1672–1681. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2007.04.028.
- Quintern M, Lein M, Joergensen RG (2006): Changes in soil – biological quality indices after long-term addition of shredded shrubs and biogenic waste compost. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 169, 488–493. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200521801.
- Sarhan, S.H.; H.K. Zaki and E. N. El-Bana. (2004). Impact of organic and inorganic fertilization on yield, tuber contents and some heavy metals concentration in potato tubers. *J. Agri. Sci. Mansoura Univ.* 29(5): 2753-2750.
- Singh, R. P. and Agrawal, M. (2010) Effect of different sewage sludge application on growth and yield of pigeon pea field crop. Metal uptake by plant. *Ecological Engineering*. 36: 969-972.
- Singh, S.P. and V.S. Kushwah. (2006). Effect of integrated use of organic and inorganic sources of nutrients on potato (*Solanum tuberosum*, L.) production. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 51(3): 1-2.
- Sinha, S. Gupta, A. K. Bhatt, K. Pandey, K. Rai, U. N. Singh, K. P. (2006) distribution of metals in the edible plants grown at Jajmau, Kanpur (India) receiving treated tannery waste water; relation with physico-chemical properties of the soil. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 115, 1-2216.
- Srivastava P, Singh R, Bhadouria R, Tripathi S, Singh P, Singh H, Raghubanshi AS (2016): Organic amendment impact on SOC dynamics in dry tropics: a possible role of relative availability of inorganic-N pools. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 235, 38–50. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.09.036.

- Suh, C., Meka, S. S., Ngome, A. F., Neba, D. A., Kemngwa, I. T., Sonkouat, A.D. and Njuaem, D. (2015) Effects of Organic and Inorganic Fertilizers on growth and yield of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) In the western highlands of Cameroon. *International Journal of Development Research* Vol. 5, Issue, 02, pp. xxxxx, February, 2015.
- Tejada M, Moreno JL, Hernandez MT, Garcia C (2007): Application of two beet vinasse forms in soil restoration: Effects on soil properties in an arid environment in southern Spain. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 119, 289–298. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2006.07.019.
- Timsina J 2018. Can organically sources of nutrients increase crop yields to meet global food demand? *Agronomy* 8:214.
- Vig. K. Megharaj, M. Sethunathan, N. And Naidu, R. (2003) Bioavailability and toxicity of Cd to micronutrient and their activities in soil: a review. *Adv. Environ. Res.* 8, 121-135.
- WorkatSebnieKahsay (2019) Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on potatoes production in Ethiopia: A review, *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 5:1, 1572985, DOI:10.1080/23311932.2019.1572985
- Zahoor.Md, Afzal.Md, Murad Ali. Mohammad. W, Khan. N, Adnan. Md, AzazAli and Saeed. Md. ; (2016). Effect of organic waste and NPK fertilizer on potato yield and soil fertility. *Pure and Applied Biology*. Vol.5, Issue 3, pp 439-445.
- Zhang X, Wu X, Zhang S, Xing Y, Wang R, Liang W (2014): Organic amendment effects on aggregate-associated organic C, microbial biomass C and glomalin in agricultural soils. *Catena*, 123, 188–194. doi: 10.1016/j.catena.2014.08.011.